
 United Nations  A/C.4/66/SR.23

  
 

General Assembly 
Sixty-sixth session 
 
Official Records 

 
Distr.: General 
8 February 2012 
 
Original: English 

 

 

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member 
of the delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the 
Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a 
copy of the record. 

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each 
Committee. 

11-58755 (E) 
*1158755*  
 

Special Political and Decolonization Committee 
(Fourth Committee) 
 

Summary record of the 23rd meeting 
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Thursday, 10 November 2011, at 10 a.m. 
 

 Chair: Ms. Miculescu . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Romania) 
 
 
 

Contents 
 

Agenda item 50: Effects of atomic radiation (continued) 

Agenda item 52: United Relief and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees in the 
Near East (continued) 

Agenda item 53: Report of the Special Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices 
Affecting the Human Rights of the Palestine People and Other Arabs of the 
Occupied Territories (continued) 

Agenda item 121: Revitalization of the work of the General Assembly 

Completion of the Committee’s work 



A/C.4/66/SR.23  
 

11-58755 2 
 

The meeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m. 
 
 

1. The Chair drew attention to the draft resolutions 
before the Committee, some of which had not been 
issued a full 24 hours before they were to be 
considered. She would take it that the Committee was 
willing to waive the 24-hour rule under rule 120 of the 
rules of procedure and to take action on the draft 
resolutions. 

2. It was so decided. 
 

Agenda item 50: Effects of atomic radiation (continued) 
(A/C.4/66/L.7) 
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.7: Effects of atomic radiation 
 

3. The Chair announced that Austria, Ireland, 
Latvia, Monaco and Portugal had become sponsors of 
the draft resolution. 

4. Mr. Silberberg (Germany), introducing draft 
resolution A/C.4/66/L.7, said that agreement had been 
reached in informal consultations on a solution to the 
issue of membership by six additional countries, 
pursuant to the invitation by the General Assembly in 
its resolution 61/109, of the United Nations Scientific 
Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation. If the 
draft resolution was adopted, the six countries, 
currently observers, would be invited to become full 
members of the Scientific Committee. Agreement had 
also been reached on a review mechanism for a 
possible further expansion of the membership of the 
Scientific Committee, taking into account, inter alia, 
the principle of equitable geographical distribution, as 
well as the need to ensure the effectiveness and quality 
of the work of the Scientific Committee. 

5. Ms. Herity (Secretary of the Committee) said 
that, with respect to paragraph 16 of the draft 
resolution, the additional resource requirement under 
section 14, Environment, of the proposed programme 
budget for the biennium 2012-2013 was estimated at 
$87,600. The Secretary-General, following a review of 
the resources proposed under section 14, would make 
every effort to absorb the additional cost of $87,600. 
Should draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.7 be adopted, the 
Secretary-General would not be seeking additional 
resources under section 14 for the biennium 2012-
2013.  

6. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.7 was adopted. 

7. Mr. Viinanen (Finland) said that his delegation 
welcomed the adoption of the draft resolution, which 
would resolve the matter of membership and enable the 
United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of 
Atomic Radiation to concentrate on substantive 
subjects such as the consequences of the accident at the 
Fukushima Daiichi nuclear power station in Japan. 
Finland was pleased to become a full member of the 
Scientific Committee and had appointed 20 additional 
experts to contribute to its work. 

8. Mr. Toba (Brazil) welcomed the increase in 
membership of the Scientific Committee and pointed 
out that Brazilian scientist Carlos Chagas Filho had 
served as Vice-Chairman of the Scientific Committee 
at its first session. His Government supported the 
Scientific Committee’s mandate as set forth in General 
Assembly resolution 913 (X). He noted with 
satisfaction that the draft resolution recognized the 
importance of disseminating the results of the work of 
the Scientific Committee and of widely publicizing 
scientific knowledge of atomic radiation. The studies 
conducted by the Scientific Committee were of the 
utmost importance, as they influenced decisions taken 
in the fields of energy, waste management, protection 
of public workers and the environment. 

9. Mr. Lazarev (Belarus) said that his delegation 
welcomed the adoption of the draft resolution. The 
decision to add new States, including Belarus, to the 
membership of the Scientific Committee would 
enhance the effectiveness of its work.  

10. As a new member, his country would draw on its 
quarter century of unique experience in dealing with 
the consequences of the Chernobyl nuclear accident, 
including through the harnessing of its network of 
research centres. As part of that research, particular 
attention had been devoted to the fields of 
radioecology and medicine, as well as to the pursuit of 
peaceful nuclear technology and the scientifically 
sound construction of nuclear power stations. 

11. Mr. Sanabria (Spain) welcomed the adoption of 
the draft resolution and stressed the need for an 
appropriate mechanism and clear criteria for possible 
future expansion of membership of the Scientific 
Committee. 

12. Mr. Andrabi (Pakistan) welcomed the adoption 
of the draft resolution. Pakistan looked forward to 
contributing to the work of the Scientific Committee as 
a full member.  



 A/C.4/66/SR.23
 

3 11-58755 
 

13. Mr. Rim Kap-soo (Republic of Korea) said that 
the Republic of Korea was pleased and honoured to 
join the Scientific Committee as a full member and 
reaffirmed the willingness of his Government to make 
a positive contribution to its work. 

14. Mr. Listov (Russian Federation) welcomed the 
adoption of the draft resolution; the addition of new 
members to the Scientific Committee would enhance 
the quality of its work. Belarus and Ukraine, in 
particular, had ample experience of dealing with the 
consequences of the contamination caused by the 
Chernobyl disaster and had great expertise in that area. 
 

Agenda item 52: United Nations Relief and Works 
Agency for Palestine Refugees in the Near East 
(continued) (A/C.4/66/L.9-L.12) 
 

Agenda item 53: Report of the Special Committee to 
Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the Human 
Rights of the Palestinian People and Other Arabs  
of the Occupied Territories (continued) 
(A/C.4/66/L.13-L.17) 
 

15. The Chair invited the Committee to consider the 
draft resolutions submitted under agenda items 52 and 
53, noting that they had no programme budget 
implications. 

16. Mr. Khan (Indonesia), introducing the four draft 
resolutions under agenda item 52 (A/C.4/66/L.9-L.12), 
said that the texts reflected the strong support of the 
international community for the United Nations Relief 
and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees in the Near 
East (UNRWA) and for its mandate. He expressed the 
hope that they would receive overwhelming support in 
the Committee.  

17. Mr. León González (Cuba), introducing the five 
draft resolutions under agenda item 53 (A/C.4/66/L.13-
L.17), said that the human rights situation of the 
civilian populations in the Occupied Palestinian 
Territory and the occupied Syrian Golan remained 
critical as a result of Israel’s violations of human rights 
and international law. The situation in the Occupied 
Palestinian Territory, including East Jerusalem, still 
required the attention of the international community, 
especially in view of Israel’s illegal settlement 
campaign. Tensions had increased, jeopardizing the 
possibility of achieving a two-State solution based on 
pre-1967 borders. The Gaza Strip was also a matter of 
concern. He called on the members of the Committee 
to support the draft resolutions. 

18. Mr. Lagergren (Observer for the European 
Union), recalling the European Union’s statements in 
explanation of vote of the previous year on some of the 
resolutions on items related to Palestine, acknowledged 
the efforts of the Palestine delegation to streamline the 
texts and reduce the number of resolutions, and 
encouraged further steps in that regard. The European 
Union fully supported a two-State solution and deeply 
appreciated the invaluable work of UNRWA. 

19. Ms. Ventura (Canada) said that her Government 
supported a two-State solution to the Israel-Palestine 
conflict, a solution which should be reached through a 
negotiated settlement between the parties that would 
guarantee Israel’s right to live in peace and security 
with its neighbours and lead to the creation of a viable 
and independent Palestinian State. The Quartet 
statement of 23 September 2011 provided a good basis 
on which to move forward.  

20. On the issue of both parties having a positive role 
to play in a lasting peace, Canada had long been 
concerned by the sheer number of United Nations 
resolutions critical solely of Israel. No other conflict in 
the world had absorbed so much time and energy on 
the part of Member States, even though there were 
many other longstanding conflicts. The draft 
resolutions before the Committee did not address the 
complexities of the issues or the actions and 
responsibilities of all parties concerned. As a package, 
they were one-sided and unbalanced, made no 
reference to terrorist activities carried out by Hamas 
and others against Israel, and were thus ultimately 
unhelpful to the cause of a lasting negotiated peace. 
There were important elements in the draft resolutions 
that needed to be discussed, but they were drowned out 
by their unbalanced nature.  

21. As a result, Canada had made a decision based on 
its principled foreign policy to vote no or to abstain on 
the package of General Assembly resolutions on the 
Middle East. The problem was with the process. 
Canada’s long-standing position had not changed: 
Israel was bound by the Geneva Convention relative to 
the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War and 
must comply with its provisions. Canada would 
continue to support efforts for a negotiated solution 
and would do what it could to help the parties achieve 
that solution. However, until there was a more 
balanced approach, Canada would express its 
discontent with the process through its votes.  



A/C.4/66/SR.23  
 

11-58755 4 
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.9: Assistance to 
Palestine refugees 
 

22. The Chair announced that Albania, Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, Iceland, Netherlands, Portugal and 
Ukraine had joined the sponsors of the draft resolution.  

23. A recorded vote was taken. 

In favour: 
 Afghanistan, Albania, Algeria, Andorra, Angola, 

Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, 
Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain, 
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, 
Benin, Bhutan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Botswana, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam, Bulgaria, 
Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Chile, China, 
Colombia, Congo, Costa Rica, Côte d’Ivoire, 
Croatia, Cuba, Cyprus, Czech Republic, 
Democratic People’s Republic of Korea, 
Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, 
Djibouti, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, 
El Salvador, Eritrea, Estonia, Ethiopia, Fiji, 
Finland, France, Gambia, Georgia, Germany, 
Ghana, Greece, Grenada, Guatemala, Guinea, 
Guyana, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, India, 
Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, 
Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, 
Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lao 
People’s Democratic Republic, Latvia, Lebanon, 
Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, 
Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, 
Maldives, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, 
Mexico, Monaco, Mongolia, Montenegro, 
Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, 
Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, 
Norway, Oman, Pakistan, Panama, Papua New 
Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, 
Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Republic of 
Moldova, Romania, Russian Federation, Saint 
Vincent and the Grenadines, Samoa, San Marino, 
Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Serbia, Singapore, 
Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sri 
Lanka, Sudan, Swaziland, Sweden, Switzerland, 
Syrian Arab Republic, Tajikistan, Thailand, the 
former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Timor-
Leste, Togo, Tonga, Trinidad and Tobago, 
Tunisia, Turkey, Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda, 
Ukraine, United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom 
of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United 
Republic of Tanzania, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, 

Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of), Viet Nam, 
Yemen, Zambia, Zimbabwe. 

Against: 
 Israel. 

Abstaining:  
 Cameroon, Canada, Haiti, Marshall Islands, 

Micronesia (Federated States of), Nauru, Palau, 
United States of America, Vanuatu. 

24. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.9 was adopted by  
160 votes to 1, with 9 abstentions.* 
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.10: Persons displaced as a 
result of the June 1967 and subsequent hostilities 
 

25. A recorded vote was taken. 

In favour: 
 Afghanistan, Albania, Algeria, Andorra, Angola, 

Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, 
Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain, 
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, 
Benin, Bhutan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Botswana, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam, Bulgaria, 
Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Chile, China, 
Colombia, Comoros, Congo, Costa Rica, Côte 
d’Ivoire, Croatia, Cuba, Cyprus, Czech Republic, 
Democratic People’s Republic of Korea, 
Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, 
Djibouti, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, 
El Salvador, Eritrea, Estonia, Ethiopia, Fiji, 
Finland, France, Gambia, Georgia, Germany, 
Ghana, Greece, Grenada, Guatemala, Guinea, 
Guyana, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, India, 
Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, 
Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, 
Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lao 
People’s Democratic Republic, Latvia, Lebanon, 
Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, 
Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, 
Maldives, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, 
Mexico, Monaco, Mongolia, Montenegro, 
Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, 
Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, 
Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, Papua 
New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, 
Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Republic of 
Moldova, Romania, Russian Federation, Saint 

 
 

 * The delegations of Comoros, Niger and Nigeria 
subsequently informed the Committee that they had 
intended to vote in favour of the draft resolution. 



 A/C.4/66/SR.23
 

5 11-58755 
 

Vincent and the Grenadines, Samoa, San Marino, 
Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Serbia, Singapore, 
Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sri 
Lanka, Sudan, Swaziland, Sweden, Switzerland, 
Syrian Arab Republic, Tajikistan, Thailand, the 
former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Timor-
Leste, Togo, Tonga, Trinidad and Tobago, 
Tunisia, Turkey, Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda, 
Ukraine, United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom 
of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United 
Republic of Tanzania, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, 
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of), Viet Nam, 
Yemen, Zambia, Zimbabwe. 

Against: 
 Canada, Israel, Marshall Islands, Micronesia 

(Federated States of), Nauru, Palau, United States 
of America. 

Abstaining: 
 Cameroon, Haiti, Panama, Vanuatu. 

26. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.10 was adopted by 
162 votes to 7, with 4 abstentions. 
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.11: Operations of the 
United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine 
Refugees in the Near East 
 

27. The Chair announced that Nigeria had become a 
sponsor of the draft resolution. 

28. A recorded vote was taken. 

In favour: 
 Afghanistan, Albania, Algeria, Andorra, Angola, 

Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, 
Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain, 
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, 
Benin, Bhutan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Botswana, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam, Bulgaria, 
Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Chile, China, 
Colombia, Comoros, Congo, Costa Rica, Côte 
d’Ivoire, Croatia, Cuba, Cyprus, Czech Republic, 
Democratic People’s Republic of Korea, 
Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, 
Djibouti, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, 
El Salvador, Eritrea, Estonia, Ethiopia, Fiji, 
Finland, France, Gambia, Georgia, Germany, 
Ghana, Greece, Grenada, Guatemala, Guinea, 
Guyana, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, India, 
Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, 
Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, 

Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lao 
People’s Democratic Republic, Latvia, Lebanon, 
Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, 
Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, 
Maldives, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, 
Mexico, Monaco, Mongolia, Montenegro, 
Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, 
Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, 
Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, 
Panama, Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, 
Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of 
Korea, Republic of Moldova, Romania, Russian 
Federation, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, 
Samoa, San Marino, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, 
Serbia, Singapore, Slovakia, Slovenia, South 
Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Swaziland, 
Sweden, Switzerland, Syrian Arab Republic, 
Tajikistan, Thailand, the former Yugoslav 
Republic of Macedonia, Timor-Leste, Togo, 
Tonga, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia, Turkey, 
Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda, Ukraine, United 
Arab Emirates, United Kingdom of Great Britain 
and Northern Ireland, United Republic of 
Tanzania, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, Venezuela 
(Bolivarian Republic of), Viet Nam, Yemen, 
Zambia, Zimbabwe. 

Against: 
 Canada, Israel, Marshall Islands, Micronesia 

(Federated States of), Nauru, Palau, United States 
of America. 

Abstaining: 
 Cameroon, Vanuatu. 

29. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.11 was adopted by 
163 votes to 7, with 2 abstentions. 
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.12: Palestine refugees’ 
properties and their revenues 
 

30. The Chair announced that Albania, Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, Croatia, Iceland, Nigeria, Portugal, 
Switzerland and Ukraine had become sponsors of the 
draft resolution.  

31. A recorded vote was taken. 

In favour: 
 Afghanistan, Albania, Algeria, Andorra, Angola, 

Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, 
Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain, 
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, 



A/C.4/66/SR.23  
 

11-58755 6 
 

Benin, Bhutan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Botswana, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam, Bulgaria, 
Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Chile, China, 
Colombia, Comoros, Congo, Costa Rica, Côte 
d’Ivoire, Croatia, Cuba, Cyprus, Czech Republic, 
Democratic People’s Republic of Korea, 
Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, 
Djibouti, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, 
El Salvador, Eritrea, Estonia, Ethiopia, Fiji, 
Finland, France, Gambia, Georgia, Germany, 
Ghana, Greece, Grenada, Guatemala, Guinea, 
Guyana, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, India, 
Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, 
Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, 
Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lao 
People’s Democratic Republic, Latvia, Lebanon, 
Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, 
Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, 
Maldives, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, 
Mexico, Monaco, Mongolia, Montenegro, 
Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, 
Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, 
Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, 
Panama, Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, 
Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of 
Korea, Republic of Moldova, Romania, Russian 
Federation, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, 
Samoa, San Marino, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, 
Serbia, Singapore, Slovakia, Slovenia, South 
Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Swaziland, 
Sweden, Switzerland, Syrian Arab Republic, 
Tajikistan, Thailand, the former Yugoslav 
Republic of Macedonia, Timor-Leste, Togo, 
Tonga, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia, Turkey, 
Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda, Ukraine, United 
Arab Emirates, United Kingdom of Great Britain 
and Northern Ireland, United Republic of 
Tanzania, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, Venezuela 
(Bolivarian Republic of), Viet Nam, Yemen, 
Zambia, Zimbabwe. 

Against: 
 Canada, Israel, Marshall Islands, Micronesia 

(Federated States of), Nauru, Palau, United States 
of America. 

Abstaining: 
 Cameroon, Haiti, Vanuatu. 

32. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.12 was adopted by 
163 votes to 7, with 3 abstentions. 
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.13: Work of the Special 
Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the 
Human Rights of the Palestinian People and Other 
Arabs of the Occupied Territories 
 

33. The Chair announced that Mali and Nigeria had 
joined the sponsors of the draft resolution. 

34. A recorded vote was taken. 

In favour: 
 Afghanistan, Algeria, Angola, Antigua and 

Barbuda, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Bahrain, 
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belize, Benin, 
Bhutan, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, 
Chile, China, Comoros, Congo, Cuba, 
Democratic People’s Republic of Korea, 
Democratic Republic of the Congo, Djibouti, 
Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, Eritrea, 
Gambia, Ghana, Grenada, Guinea, Guyana, India, 
Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, 
Jamaica, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, 
Kyrgyzstan, Lao People’s Democratic Republic, 
Lebanon, Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Malawi, 
Malaysia, Maldives, Mali, Mauritania, Mauritius, 
Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, 
Nepal, Nicaragua, Niger, Nigeria, Oman, 
Pakistan, Qatar, Saint Vincent and the 
Grenadines, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Singapore, 
South Africa, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Syrian Arab 
Republic, Tajikistan, Togo, Trinidad and Tobago, 
Tunisia, Turkey, Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda, 
United Arab Emirates, United Republic of 
Tanzania, Uzbekistan, Venezuela (Bolivarian 
Republic of), Viet Nam, Yemen, Zambia, 
Zimbabwe. 

Against: 
 Australia, Canada, Israel, Marshall Islands, 

Micronesia (Federated States of), Nauru, Palau, 
Panama, United States of America. 

Abstaining: 
 Albania, Andorra, Argentina, Austria, Bahamas, 

Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Botswana, 
Bulgaria, Cameroon, Colombia, Costa Rica, Côte 
d’Ivoire, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, 
Denmark, El Salvador, Estonia, Ethiopia, Fiji, 
Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, 
Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, 
Ireland, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Liechtenstein, 
Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Mexico, Monaco, 
Mongolia, Montenegro, Netherlands, New 



 A/C.4/66/SR.23
 

7 11-58755 
 

Zealand, Norway, Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, 
Peru, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Republic of 
Korea, Republic of Moldova, Romania, Russian 
Federation, Samoa, San Marino, Serbia, Slovakia, 
Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, 
the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, 
Timor-Leste, Tonga, Ukraine, United Kingdom of 
Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay, 
Vanuatu. 

35. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.13 was adopted by  
89 votes to 9, with 72 abstentions. 
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.14: Applicability of the 
Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of 
Civilian Persons in Time of War, of 12 August 1949, to 
the Occupied Palestinian Territory, including East 
Jerusalem, and the other occupied Arab territories 
 

36. The Chair announced that Mali had joined the 
sponsors of the draft resolution. 

37. A recorded vote was taken. 

In favour: 
 Afghanistan, Albania, Algeria, Andorra, Angola, 

Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, 
Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain, 
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, 
Benin, Bhutan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Botswana, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam, Bulgaria, 
Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Chile, China, 
Colombia, Comoros, Congo, Costa Rica, Croatia, 
Cuba, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Democratic 
People’s Republic of Korea, Democratic Republic 
of the Congo, Denmark, Djibouti, Dominican 
Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Eritrea, 
Estonia, Ethiopia, Fiji, Finland, France, Gambia, 
Georgia, Germany, Ghana, Greece, Grenada, 
Guatemala, Guinea, Guyana, Honduras, Hungary, 
Iceland, India, Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic 
of), Iraq, Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, 
Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lao 
People’s Democratic Republic, Latvia, Lebanon, 
Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, 
Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, 
Maldives, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, 
Mexico, Monaco, Mongolia, Montenegro, 
Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, 
Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, 
Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, 
Panama, Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, 

Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of 
Korea, Republic of Moldova, Romania, Russian 
Federation, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, 
Samoa, San Marino, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, 
Serbia, Singapore, Slovakia, Slovenia, South 
Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Swaziland, 
Sweden, Switzerland, Syrian Arab Republic, 
Tajikistan, Thailand, the former Yugoslav 
Republic of Macedonia, Timor-Leste, Togo, 
Tonga, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia, Turkey, 
Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda, Ukraine, United 
Arab Emirates, United Kingdom of Great Britain 
and Northern Ireland, United Republic of 
Tanzania, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, Venezuela 
(Bolivarian Republic of), Viet Nam, Yemen, 
Zambia, Zimbabwe. 

Against: 
 Canada, Israel, Marshall Islands, Micronesia 

(Federated States of), Nauru, Palau, United States 
of America. 

Abstaining: 
 Cameroon, Côte d’Ivoire, Vanuatu. 

38. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.14 was adopted by 
162 votes to 7, with 3 abstentions. 
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.15: Israeli settlements in 
the Occupied Palestinian Territory, including East 
Jerusalem, and the occupied Syrian Golan 
 

39. The Chair announced that Mali had joined the 
sponsors of the draft resolution. 

40. Mr. Aquino (Peru), speaking in explanation of 
vote before the voting, said that Peru would vote in 
favour of draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.15. In keeping 
with its consistent position, Peru was in favour of a 
two-State solution that would guarantee for both 
parties the right to live in peace within secure 
boundaries and free from threats or acts of force. Peru 
held the view that the Israeli settlements were illegal, 
and joined the international call for the peace process 
to be resumed immediately, based on full compliance 
by all parties with the commitments undertaken in 
previous agreements, especially the Quarter road map, 
and with international law, including the resolutions 
adopted in the framework of the United Nations. 

41. A recorded vote was taken. 



A/C.4/66/SR.23  
 

11-58755 8 
 

In favour: 
 Afghanistan, Albania, Algeria, Andorra, Angola, 

Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, 
Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain, 
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, 
Benin, Bhutan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Botswana, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam, Bulgaria, 
Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Chile, China, 
Colombia, Comoros, Congo, Costa Rica, Croatia, 
Cuba, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Democratic 
People’s Republic of Korea, Democratic Republic 
of the Congo, Denmark, Djibouti, Dominican 
Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Eritrea, 
Estonia, Ethiopia, Fiji, Finland, France, Gambia, 
Georgia, Germany, Ghana, Greece, Grenada, 
Guatemala, Guinea, Guyana, Honduras, Hungary, 
Iceland, India, Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic 
of), Iraq, Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, 
Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lao 
People’s Democratic Republic, Latvia, Lebanon, 
Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, 
Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, 
Maldives, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, 
Mexico, Monaco, Mongolia, Montenegro, 
Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, 
Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, 
Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, Papua 
New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, 
Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Republic of 
Moldova, Romania, Russian Federation, Saint 
Vincent and the Grenadines, Samoa, San Marino, 
Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Serbia, Singapore, 
Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sri 
Lanka, Sudan, Swaziland, Sweden, Switzerland, 
Syrian Arab Republic, Tajikistan, Thailand, the 
former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Timor-
Leste, Togo, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia, 
Turkey, Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda, Ukraine, 
United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom of Great 
Britain and Northern Ireland, United Republic of 
Tanzania, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, Venezuela 
(Bolivarian Republic of), Viet Nam, Yemen, 
Zambia, Zimbabwe. 

Against: 
 Canada, Israel, Marshall Islands, Micronesia 

(Federated States of), Nauru, Palau, United States 
of America. 

Abstaining: 
 Cameroon, Côte d’Ivoire, Haiti, Panama, 

Vanuatu. 

42. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.15 was adopted by 
160 votes to 7, with 5 abstentions.  
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.16: Israeli practices affecting 
the human rights of the Palestinian people in the 
Occupied Palestinian Territory, including East Jerusalem 
 

43. The Chair announced that Mali had joined the 
sponsors of the draft resolution. 

44. A recorded vote was taken. 

In favour: 
 Afghanistan, Albania, Algeria, Andorra, Angola, 

Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, 
Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain, 
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, 
Benin, Bhutan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Botswana, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam, Bulgaria, 
Cambodia, Chile, China, Colombia, Comoros, 
Congo, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cuba, Cyprus, Czech 
Republic, Democratic People’s Republic of 
Korea, Democratic Republic of the Congo, 
Denmark, Djibouti, Dominican Republic, 
Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Eritrea, Estonia, 
Ethiopia, Fiji, Finland, France, Gambia, Georgia, 
Germany, Ghana, Greece, Grenada, Guatemala, 
Guinea, Guyana, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, 
India, Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, 
Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, 
Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lao 
People’s Democratic Republic, Latvia, Lebanon, 
Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, 
Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, 
Maldives, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, 
Mexico, Monaco, Mongolia, Montenegro, 
Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, 
Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, 
Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, Papua 
New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, 
Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Republic of 
Moldova, Romania, Russian Federation, Saint 
Vincent and the Grenadines, Samoa, San Marino, 
Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Serbia, Singapore, 
Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sri 
Lanka, Sudan, Swaziland, Sweden, Switzerland, 
Syrian Arab Republic, Tajikistan, Thailand, the 
former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Timor-



 A/C.4/66/SR.23
 

9 11-58755 
 

Leste, Togo, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia, 
Turkey, Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda, Ukraine, 
United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom of Great 
Britain and Northern Ireland, United Republic of 
Tanzania, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, Venezuela 
(Bolivarian Republic of), Viet Nam, Yemen, 
Zambia, Zimbabwe. 

Against: 
 Australia, Canada, Israel, Marshall Islands, 

Micronesia (Federated States of), Nauru, Palau, 
Panama, United States of America. 

Abstaining: 
 Cameroon, Côte d’Ivoire, Haiti, Vanuatu. 

45. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.16 was adopted by 
158 votes to 9, with 4 abstentions. 
 

Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.17: The occupied  
Syrian Golan 
 

46. A recorded vote was taken. 

In favour: 
 Afghanistan, Albania, Algeria, Andorra, Angola, 

Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, 
Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Bahrain, 
Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Belize, 
Benin, Bhutan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Botswana, Brazil, Brunei Darussalam, Bulgaria, 
Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Chile, China, 
Colombia, Comoros, Congo, Costa Rica, Croatia, 
Cuba, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Democratic 
People’s Republic of Korea, Democratic Republic 
of the Congo, Denmark, Djibouti, Dominican 
Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Eritrea, 
Estonia, Ethiopia, Finland, France, Gambia, 
Georgia, Germany, Ghana, Greece, Grenada, 
Guatemala, Guinea, Guyana, Honduras, Hungary, 
Iceland, India, Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic 
of), Iraq, Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, 
Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lao 
People’s Democratic Republic, Latvia, Lebanon, 
Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, 
Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, 
Maldives, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, 
Mexico, Monaco, Mongolia, Montenegro, 
Morocco, Mozambique, Myanmar, Namibia, 
Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, 
Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, Papua 
New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, 
Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Republic of 

Moldova, Romania, Russian Federation, Saint 
Vincent and the Grenadines, Samoa, San Marino, 
Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Serbia, Singapore, 
Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sri 
Lanka, Sudan, Swaziland, Sweden, Switzerland, 
Syrian Arab Republic, Tajikistan, Thailand, the 
former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Timor-
Leste, Togo, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia, 
Turkey, Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda, Ukraine, 
United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom of Great 
Britain and Northern Ireland, United Republic of 
Tanzania, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, Venezuela 
(Bolivarian Republic of), Viet Nam, Yemen, 
Zambia, Zimbabwe. 

Against: 
 Israel. 

Abstaining: 
 Cameroon, Canada, Côte d’Ivoire, Haiti, 

Marshall Islands, Micronesia (Federated States 
of), Nauru, Palau, Tonga, United States of 
America, Vanuatu. 

47. Draft resolution A/C.4/66/L.17 was adopted by 
159 votes to 1, with 11 abstentions. 

48. Mr. Sahraei (Islamic Republic of Iran) said that 
his delegation had voted in favour of draft resolutions 
A/C.4/66/L.13, L.14 and L.16 to show its solidarity 
with the Palestinian people and stress the importance 
of international recognition of the inalienable right of 
the Palestinian people to defend themselves from 
foreign occupation and aggression. Owing to lack of 
attention to the root causes of the Palestinian crisis, it 
had remained unresolved for more than six decades, 
and the illegal occupation of Palestinian and other Arab 
territories by the Israeli regime had continued, as had 
the persistent violations of the rights of the Palestinian 
people, including the right to self-determination and 
the right of the Palestine refugees to return to their 
homeland.  

49. Ms. Abdelhady-Nasser (Observer for Palestine) 
thanked all the delegations that had voted in favour of 
the draft resolutions under agenda items 52 and 53. The 
reaffirmation of the human rights of the Palestinian 
people, including the Palestine refugees, and the core 
principles and just positions expressed in the 
resolutions were of the utmost importance to Palestine.  

50. She deeply regretted the unjustified abstentions 
and negative votes by a Member State that had 



A/C.4/66/SR.23  
 

11-58755 10 
 

historically been a strong supporter of UNRWA and of 
the rights of the refugees, and had played an important 
role as a facilitator of the multilateral refugee working 
group in the context of the Middle East peace process. 
She wondered what had changed in regard to the plight 
of the Palestine refugees and the role of the Agency to 
cause that negative shift. The international community 
should be unwavering in its resolve to find a just 
solution to the question of Palestine in all its aspects, 
including to the problem of Palestine refugees, on the 
basis of General Assembly resolution 194 (III).  

51. Palestine was, however, grateful for the 
international community’s commitment to UNRWA, 
and, in particular, for the significant support of host 
nations and the donor community. The resolve and will 
of Member States had aided Palestine in seeking a two-
State solution despite the constant erosion of its 
viability owing to Israel’s violations, particularly its 
illegal settlement campaign throughout the occupied 
Palestinian territory, including East Jerusalem. The 
international community must continue to firmly 
demand the complete cessation of the illegal Israeli 
campaign and to demand unequivocally, as it had in the 
draft resolutions, that Israel, the occupying Power, 
should respect the rights of the Palestinian people 
under its occupation and of the Syrian people in the 
occupied Syrian Golan and that it should abide fully by 
its obligations under international law, including under 
the Fourth Geneva Convention and the human rights 
covenants.  

52. Palestine’s appeal for support was all the more 
pressing in view of the instability and uncertainty that 
was putting the two-State solution in serious jeopardy 
and destabilizing the situation on the ground. The 
Palestinian leadership had embarked on a peaceful 
political initiative based on the inalienable right of the 
Palestinian people to self-determination and their 
historic and legitimate right to join the community of 
nations. Those who truly supported the cause of peace 
must remain consistent in their demand for full 
compliance by Israel, the occupying Power, with all its 
obligations under international law, for only respect for 
the law would change the situation on the ground and 
permit the resumption and advancement of serious 
negotiations on all core issues, finally bringing peace, 
security and coexistence for the Palestinian and Israeli 
peoples and for the Middle East as a whole. 

53. Mr. Hamed (Syrian Arab Republic) said that the 
support for the draft resolutions adopted under agenda 

items 52 and 53 reflected the international 
community’s rejection of occupation by force and of 
human rights violations. The draft resolutions sent a 
clear message to Israel to end its occupation of all the 
occupied Arab territories and to cease its violations of 
the Fourth Geneva Convention of 1949. In particular, 
the adoption by an overwhelming majority of Member 
States of the resolution on the occupied Syrian Golan 
(A/C.4/66/L.17) confirmed that Israel’s attempts to 
annex the occupied Syrian Golan and to impose its 
laws, jurisdiction and administration, and to build and 
expand settlements and to pursue racist practices 
against the Syrian people of the Golan, in a twofold 
violation of international law, were null and void and 
without international legal effect. Those measures 
recalled the darkest days of modern history when, at 
the beginning of the Second World War in Europe, a 
particular State had attacked and annexed parts of other 
countries. 

54. The adoption of the draft resolutions underscored 
the importance of the work of the Special Committee 
to Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the Human 
Rights of the Palestinian People and Other Arabs of the 
Occupied Territories, and he called on all States to 
assist the Special Committee in bringing Israel’s crimes 
to light. Any attempt to undermine the Special 
Committee would only provide Israel with the cover it 
needed to pursue its practices and settlement activities 
in violation of human rights and international law.  

55. The Syrian Arab Republic had frequently 
expressed its commitment to a fair and just peace, but 
the Israeli response to its initiatives and overtures had 
been to prevaricate and continue with its well-known 
practices in the occupied Arab territories, including the 
continued detention of thousands of Palestinians, 33 of 
them elected members of the Palestinian Legislative 
Council, and the maintenance of the blockade of Gaza. 
Likewise, settlement activities continued a pace in the 
West Bank, especially East Jerusalem, and in the 
occupied Syrian Golan, notwithstanding international 
condemnation. A peace process had no chance of 
success if one side was working to promote it with the 
full support of the international community, while the 
other side, Israel, was doing its utmost to undermine it. 
What the peace process needed was an Israeli partner 
that was really committed to a peace based on 
internationally recognized principles, particularly 
Israel’s withdrawal from occupied Arab territories to 
the boundaries of 4 June 1967. It was regrettable that 



 A/C.4/66/SR.23
 

11 11-58755 
 

although everyone was now aware of that reality, some 
continued to make excuses for Israel’s undermining of 
peace. 

56. The Israeli delegation had been the only one to 
vote against the draft resolution on the occupied Syrian 
Golan and all the other draft resolutions just adopted. 
In so doing, it had unequivocally departed from 
international consensus and defied the United Nations, 
and international law. He called on those few 
delegations that had abstained from voting on the draft 
resolution on the occupied Syrian Golan to join the 
international consensus and vote in favour when it 
went before the plenary Assembly. Any failure to 
condemn the Israeli occupation and annexation would 
only send the wrong message to those who broke the 
law, suggesting that the law of the jungle had now 
taken the place of international law and that law-
breakers enjoyed impunity. He invited delegations that 
had voted against any of the draft resolutions to put 
themselves in the position of the Arab civilians in the 
Occupied Palestinian Territory and the occupied Syrian 
Golan for just one day in order to understand their 
terrible suffering at the hands of barbaric settlers 
whose actions would eliminate any hope of a just and 
comprehensive peace. 

57. Mr. Keidar (Israel) said that the draft resolutions 
which the Committee had just adopted were too long, 
too one-sided and too focused on Israel when there 
were so many other pressing global issues on the 
agenda of the United Nations. The adoption of the draft 
resolutions would not be of much assistance to the 
resumption of the peace process. He joined the 
Observer for Palestine in stating that the goal was to 
resume the peace process and the negotiations; that 
was Israel’s goal as well. 
 

Agenda item 121: Revitalization of the work of the 
General Assembly (A/C.4/66/L.8) 
 

Draft decision A/C.4/66/L.8: Proposed programme of 
work and timetable of the Special Political and 
Decolonization Committee (Fourth Committee) for the 
sixty-seventh session of the General Assembly 
 

58. Draft decision A/C.4/66/L.8 was adopted. 
 

Completion of the Committee’s work 
 

59. The Chair said that the work of the Fourth 
Committee was mainly political and, as agreed by the 
members of the Committee, that character should be 

retained and strengthened. At the same time, the 
Committee also covered other important issues that 
related to many other aspects of the work of the 
Secretariat, such as public information, outer space and 
atomic radiation. The agenda items allocated to the 
Committee provided opportunities for delegations to 
consider those issues in an in-depth manner and to 
benefit from the flexible working methods adopted by 
the Committee in recent years. The format of 
interactive dialogue had proven to be very useful and 
informative. 

60. After reviewing the work accomplished under 
each agenda item during the session, she declared that 
the Committee had completed its work at the main part 
of the sixty-sixth session of the General Assembly. 

The meeting rose at 12.10 p.m. 

 


